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Plaintiffs, Olivia Mendoza and Juana Mendiola, submit this brief in response to
isgues raised for the first time in defendants’ reply brief* and by the Court at oral
argument. While plaintiffs believe that their Complaint sufficiently pleads injury to
business and property and causation, if the Court disagrees plaintiffs respectfully
request that any dismissal allow them leave to file an amended complaint which will
allege causation and damages with greater specificity based upon consultation with

their expert economist.

L INTRODUCTION

In their reply brief defendants argued for the first time that: (a) plaintiffs’
alleged injury, depressed wages, was not compensable as an injury to “business or
property,” which is required in order to confer standing under RICO, and (b) such an
injury did not constitute a “concrete financial loss” as that term has been used by the
Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. At oral argument on the Motion before the Court on
August 31, 2000, the Court asked counsel to comment on the Commercial Clearning
case. Because that case is unpublished, counsel had not outlined for the Court in
writing the differences between that case and this case.

The Court indicated these arguments would be considered in deciding the
Motion. Accordingly, plaintiffs submit this memorandum to respond to the Court's
question about Commercial Cleaning and defendants’ new arguments in writing.
Plaintiffs believe that this memorandum and prior briefing amply demonstrate that
the Complaint should be sustained as written. If the Cowrt disagrees, however, and

does dismiss the Complaint, plaintiffs request that the Court allow them leave to file

I Defendants’ reply brief was filed many weeks late. While plaintiffs did not object
to the untimeliness of that brief, they believe they should have the chance to respond to

the new arguments in writing.
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an amended complaint which will incorporate consultations with their expert
economist and plead in greater specificity how plaintiffs’ alleged injuries can be proven

and calculated.

II. COMMERCIAL CLEANING? DOES NOT SUPPORT DEFENDANTS’
POSITION ON STANDING AND CAUSATION HERE

At oral argument, the Court asked counsel how this case is different from the
Commercial Cleaning case. While counsel attempted to answer the question at
argument, counsel would like to briefly respond to this new authority in writing.3

The Commercial Cleaning case was dismissed primarily on standing grounds
under Holmes v, Securities Investor Protection Corp., 503 U.S. 258, 268 (1992) — the
same case upon which the defendants base their “standing” argument here.
Commercial Cleaning, 2000 WL 545126. In holding that the plaintiffs in Commercial
Cleaning had failed to allege “direct” injury within the meaning of Holmes, the court
noted that the hiring of illegal immigrants at a reduced rate of pay was only the first

step in a lengthy causation chain:

The complaint alleges the following causation chain:
defendant hires illegal immigrants at a reduced rate of pay;
which also enables it to avoid paying federal and state taxes,
workers’ compensation insurance, and other costs for these
employees; which enables it to make lower bids than the
plaintiff and other competitors for office cleaning contracts;
which results in it obtaining a larger market share of the
cleaning business and ultimately prevents the plaintiff from
obtaining more business.

2 Commercial Cleaning Servs. v. Colin Service Sys., Inc., 2000 WL 545126 (D. Conn.
Mar. 21, 2000).

3 Plaintiffs did not cite the Commercial Cleaning opinion in their original brief
because that decision is unpublished. A copy of that decision is provided together with

this memorandum for the convenience of the Court and defendants.
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Commercial Cleaning, 2000 WL 545126 at *5. In other words, the sole step in the
plaintiffs’ proof here — that hiring illegal immigrants brings down wages — was but the
first step in a lengthy chain of causation in Commercial Cleaning.

Under the circumstances, plaintiffs’ injuries here are far more direct than the
plaintiff-competitor’s injuries were in Commercial Cleaning. Hence, Commercial

Cleaning does not support defendants’ position on standing here.4

III. LOST WAGES ARE A TYPE OI‘I‘(::(B)USINESS OR PROPERTY” UNDER
RICO*

For the first time in their reply brief (at page 8) and then again at oral
arpument, defendants argued that plaintiffs’ alleged injuries are not injuries to
business or property. Defendants are wrong.

Virtually every court to consider the question has held that lost wages are
compensable under 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c) as “business or property.” E.g., Rice v.
Janovich, 109 Wash. 2d 48, 61, 742 P.2d 1230, 1237 (1987), en banc,(“Federal cases
since Sedima have specifically held that lost wages may be recovered in civil RICO

actions, and we follow that conclusion.”); Feminist Women’s Health Center v. Roberts,

1 As plaintiffs informed the Court at oral argument, plaintiffs in Commerical
Cleaning are appealing that decision. As soon as the Second Circuit has ruled,
plaintiffs will promptly provide copies of the decision to defendants and the Court. If
competitors cannot bring a RICO claim for viclations of § 274 (as the distriet court
found in Commercial Cleaning) and employees cannot either (as defendants here
contend), then an anomalous situation arises whereby Congress has expressly created a

private right of action for violations of § 274, yet no one has standing to bring a claim.

56 RICO confers standing to sue on a plaintiff “injured in his business or property...”

18 U.S.C. § 1964(c).
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1989 WL 56017 at *12 (W.D. Wash. 1989); Libertad v. Welch, 53 F.3d 428, 437 (1t Cir.
1995); Hunt v. Weatherbee, 626 F. Supp 1097, 1100 (D. Mass. 1986); Rodonich v. House
Wreckers Union, Local 95, 627 F. Supp. 176, 180 (S.D.N.Y. 1985).
IV. LOST WAGES ARE “CONCRETE FINANCIAL LOSS”
Again for the first time in their reply, defendants contended plaintiffs claims
“fail[] to show concrete financial loss.” Reply at 9, lines 1-2 (internal quotation
omitted). However, a close examination of this concept and how it has been applied by

the Ninth Circuit indicates that it has no application to this case.

A Plaintiffs’ Claims Satisfy The Supreme Court’s Test for Standing

The source of the “concrete financial loss” rule is the Supreme Court’s analysis of
Article III's “case or controversy” requirement, which is required in order to confer
federal subject matter jurisdiction. The Supreme Court held: “To establish an Art. 111
case or controversy, a litigant first must clearly demonstrate that he has suffered an
injury in fact. That injury, we have emphasized repeatedly, must be concrete in both
a qualitative and temporal sense. The complainant must allege an injury to himself
that is distinct and palpable... and the alleged harm must be actual or imminent, not
conjectural or hypothetical.”®

Under this standard, the Supreme Court has gone so far as to find standing for
an environmental organization which alleged that the “adverse environmental impact”
of a railroad rate increase would cause its members “to suffer economic, recreational
and aesthetic harm.” Whitmore, 495 U.S. at 159. Specifically, the environmental
group claimed the rate increase, “would ... cause increased use of nonrecyclable
commodities as compared to recyclable goods, thus resulting in the need to use more

natural resources to produce such goods, some of which resources might be taken from

§Whitmore v. Arkansas, 495 U.S. 149, 155 (1990) (emphasis added).
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the Washington area, and resulting in more refuse that might be discarded in national
parks in the Washington area.” Id. This highly speculative injury nevertheless
survived a motion to dismiss for lack of standing. Id. In the instant case, plaintiffs’
claims of depressed wages are not speculative at all. The complaint alleges their wages
have been depressed as a result of defendants’ illegal immigrant hiring scheme; thus

the injury has occurred.”

B. Plaintiffs Satisfy the Ninth Circuit’s Test for Standing/Concrete
Financial Loss

Controlling Ninth Circuit cases on “financial loss” simply stand for the
proposition that a plaintiff who has alleged an injury which has not manifested itself
lacks standing to sue under RICO. In Oscar v. University Students Co-Operative Ass’n,
965 F.2d 783, 785 (9t Cir.), cert. denied, 506 U.S. 1020 (1992), the Court affirmed the
dismissal of a RICO complaint in which plaintiff, who rented her apartment, claimed

the value of the building in which she lived was depressed by her neighbors’ drug

7 “Plaintiffs and members of the Class have been damaged by reason of defendants’
RICO violations because they have been employed by Matson and Zirkle at wages
which were depressed as a direct result of the Illegal Immigrant Hiring Scheme.
Plaintiffs and members of the Class were the intended and direct victims of the
defendants’ RICO scheme and their injury, working at depressed wages, was both
intended and foreseeable. As a direct result of this scheme defendants were able to
profit” Complaint, § 56. See NOW v. Scheidler, 510 U.S. 249, 256 (1994) ("[A]t the
pleading stage, general factual allegations of injury resulting from the defendant’s
conduct may suffice, for on a motion to dismiss we presume that general allegations
embrace those specific facts that are necessary to support the claim.”) (reversing

dismissal of RICO claim for lack of standing).
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dealing, and further, that she had suffered “discomfort and annoyance.” The Court
held that as a tenant, plaintiff had not suffered a “tangible financial loss” from the
alleged decrease in the property value, and also held that personal injuries did not
satisfy § 1964(c)’s requirement that a RICO plaintiff suffer an injury to “business or
property.” Id. This precedent cannot apply to the instant case, alleging lost wages,
which as indicated, supra, are compensable under RICO.# As for Fleischhauer v.
Feltner, 879 F.2d 1290, 1299 (6t Cir. 1989), cert. denied, 494 U.S. 1027 (1990), the
Court there simply held that: “[r]ecovery for physical injury or mental suffering is not
allowed under RICO because it is not an injury to business or property.”

Likewise, in In re American Honda Motor Co. Dealership Realtors Litig., 341 F.
Supp. 528, 540 (D. Md. 1996), the district court concluded that the Ninth Circuit’s
“concrete financial loss rule” merely requires a plaintiff to allege a “tangible financial
injury.” In that case, the plaintiffs were car dealers who brought RICO claims seeking
“lost past profits” for sales of vehicles they should have received but did not as a result
of a bribery scheme perpetrated by other Honda dealers. In deciding the defendants’
motion to dismiss, the Court held that the alleged injuries would be sufficient under

the Ninth Circuit’s “concrete financial loss” rule. Id.

V. EXPERT TESTIMONY IS OFTEN USED TO HELP ESTABLISH
CAUSATION AND DAMAGES IN RICO AND ANTITRUST CASES

Defendants contended at oral argument that the Complaint is worthy of

dismissal because the alleged wage depression could have been caused by factors other

B The holding in Oscar followed the Ninth Circuit’s similar decision in Berg v. First
State Ins. Co., 915 F.2d 460, 464 (9* Cir. 1990), in which the Court held that
“compensation for the stress of having been without insurance” was not compensable

under RICO. Oscar, 965 F.2d at 811.
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than the illegal immigrant hiring scheme, and colorfully expressed their belief that
expert testimony could not be used to help establish damages. The Court also
expressed concern as to how damages could be proven in this case. Accordingly,
plaintiffs will briefly discuss this issue that was not raised prior to oral argument.

In considering how causation and damages will be proven in this case, it is
helpful to examine antitrust law on which RICO was “modeled.” Holmes, 503 U.S. 258.
The law 1s settled that antitrust “[p}laintiffs need not prove that the antitrust violation
was the sole cause of their injury, but only that it was a material cause.” Sullivan v.
National Football League, 34 F.3d 1091, 1103 (1#t Cir. 1994), reh’g denied, amended sub
nom., 1994 U.S. App. Lexis 88393 (1% Cir, 1994), cert. denied, 513 U.S, 1190 (1995).
See also, William Inglis & Sons Baking Co. v. Continental Baking Co., 942 F.2d 1332,
1339 (g9th Cir. 1991), amended on other grounds, 981 F.2d 1023 (9t Cir. 1992) (“In order
to establish liability...[plaintiff] was required to prove the existence of some causal
connection between defendant’s wrongful act and some loss of anticipated revenue.”).
Once plaintiffs establish the fact of injury (by showing that the wrongful act has some
causal connection with the plaintiffs’ damages), courts relax the evidentiary standards
for proving the amount of damages. Syufy Enterprises v. American Multicinema, Inc.,
793 F.2d 990, 1003 (9t Cir. 1986) (“Proof of the amount of damages is governed by a
less stringent standard of proof than is the fact of injury.”), cert. dented, 479 U.S. 1034
(1987).

While cases arising under RICO similarly involve lost wages and other economic
damages which may be inherently difficult to quantify, such difficulty of proof is
typically not considered to be grounds for dismissal. Accordingly, courts have allowed
plaintiffs to proceed with RICO cases in which causation and damage analysis requires
expert testimony so long as the defendants’ RICO violations are a “substantial factor”

in causing the plaintiffs’ injuries. E.g., Hecht v. Commerce Clearing House, Inec., 897

1
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F.2d 21, 23-24 (24 Cir. 1990) (“the RICO pattern or acts proximately cause a plaintiffs
injury if they are a substantial factor in the sequence of responsible causation, and if
the 1njury is reasonably foreseeable or anticipated as a natural consequence”). The
Complaint’s allegations easily establish that defendants’ Illegal Immigrant Hiring
scheme was a substantial factor in causing injury to the plaintiffs. Accordingly,
plaintiffs should be permitted to prove causation, and the amount of their damages,

through expert testimony
V1. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above as well as those stated in prior briefing and at oral
argument, plaintiffs request that the Court deny the defendants’ motion to dismiss. In
the event that the Court does dismiss plaintiffs’ complaint, however, plaintiffs
respectfully request that the Court grant them leave to amend their Complaint to

make their causation and damage allegations more detailed.

DATED this 8t Day of September, 2000.

HAGENS BERMAN LLP

By C(,Av M M

Steve W. Berman, WSBA #12536
Andrew M. Volk, WSBA #27639
Kevin P. Roddy

1301 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2900
Seattle, WA 98101

(206) 623-7292

Howard W. Foster
JOHNSON & BELL, LTD.
55 E. Monroe St_, Suite 4100
Chicago, IL 60603

(312) 372-0770

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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I, Carrie Scheafer, declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State
of Washington that the following facts are true and correct:

I am a citizen of the United States, over the age of 18 years, and not a party to
or interested in the within-entitled cause. 1 am an employee of the law firm Hagens
Berman LLP, and my business address is 1301 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2900, Seattle,
Washington 98101.

On September 8, 2000, I caused an original and one copy of the following
document to be hand delivered to the Clerk of the District Court, Eastern District of
Washington, West 920 Riverside Ave., Room 840, U.S. District Courthouse,
Spokane, WA, 99201:

I also caused a copy of the following document to be served on counsel of
record in the manner indicated below:

PLAINTIFFS’ SUPPLEMENTAL MEMORANDUM IN RESPONSE TO

NEW ISSUES RAISED IN DEFENDANTS' REPLY AND AT ORAL
ARGUMENT (Declaration of Service attached)

Brendan V. Monahan
VELIKANJE, MOORE & SHORE, P.S.
405 East Lincoln Ave.

P.O. Box 22550

Yakima, WA 98907 )
Attorneys for Defendant Selective
Employment Agency, Inc.

( ) US.MALL

(x) FAX

( ) MESSENGER

( ) OVERNIGHT MAIL

[HaGENS BERMAN LED
£rimr Iio )

DECLARATION OF SERVICE -1-

Qe¢ripus 1w Sxarres Puonwxtx Las ANGELud
1301 PIFTIt aNRAUR. SUTTE 2900 « SEaTTLE, WA 33101
1348.10 0013 BSC.DOC TELEFHQNE (206} §73-T2u2 « PACKIMILE (206) 623-0554




09/08/00

D@ S N

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26

09:00 FAX 2086230594 HAGENS BERMAN do12

— L

ﬁan M. Ed(%ley

LVERSON & APPLEGATE,P.S.
311 North Fourth Street

P.O. Box 22730

Yakima, WA 98907-2715

Attorneys for Defendants Matson Fruit
Company and Zirkle Fruit Co.

( ) U.S. MAIL

(x) FAX

( ) MESSENGER

( ) OVERNIGHT MAIL

Walter G. Meyer
Me er, Fluegge & Tenney, P.S.
South Second Street
P O. Box 22680
Y akima, WA 98907
Attomeys for Defendant Zirkle Fruit Co.
( ) US.MAIL
x) FAX
( ) MESSENGER
( ) OVERNIGHT MAIL

Executed on September 8, 2000, in Seattle, Washmgton.

(hetlp

Camme Schcafcr

N————
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COMMERCIAL CLEANING SERVICES, L.L.C.,
Plaintiff,

COLIN SERVICE SYS"I,'.EMS, INC., Defendant.
No. Civ.A. 3:99CY109(CF.
United Statez District Court, D. Conpecticut.
March 2%, 2000.

Howard Foster, Johmson & Bell, Lid,, Chicago,
Blinols, Jacek [. Smigelski, Timothy P. Mills,
Smijelski & Mills, New Bricain, Connecticut, for
plaintifi.

James Sicilian, Mario R. Borelli, Day Berry &
Howard, Ciryplace, Hartford, Commectient, C.
William Phillips, Asron R. Marcu, Covington &
Burling, New Yark, New York, for defendant.

RULING ON THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO
DISMISS

DRONEY, 1.
Introduction

*1 The one count purative class action complaint in
this case seeks damages for viclation of the
Racketeering Influenced Corrupt Organizations Act
(hereinafter "RICQ™), codified at 18 U.S.C. § 1961.
et scq. The complaint alleges that the defepdant,
which is in the business of cleaning office bulldings,
hss engaged in 2 pauern of racketeering activity by
"hiring huadreds of illegal immigrants at low wages in
arder to give it an unfeir advantage over its
competitors.” The complaint glso alleges that thig
activity harms the plaintiff and other businesses which
compete with the defendant for office cleaning service
accounts becauee it underbid its competitors. Pending
{s the defendant's maotion o dismiss [Document # 11].

Background [FN1)

EN1. For the purpose of deciding the modon to
digmiss, the Tacts alleped in the complamt are desined

10-be tre. See Discussion § 1, infra.

According to the complaint, the defendant is engaged
in the “highly competitive” business of providing

-office cleaning services, The plaintlff is one of the

defepdant's business comperitors, It is also alleged
that the defemdant knowingly hires “illegal amnd/or

undocumented workers zad pays them wages that are
significantly below ihe industy standard” and
employz "illegal aliens” after the termination of their
work awhorizarion periods, According to the
complaint, these practices enable the defepdant to
underbid its competitors, including the plamtiff, The
complaint also alleges that the defendant was sued by
the U.S. Immigration & Naturalizatiop Service
("INS") for this conduct and in 1996 paid a substantial
fine to the INS 1o resolve thar enforcement action. The
comoplaint also alleges the existence of a racketsering
enterprise comprised of the defendant and "temporary
and permanem employmept placement services, labor
conlrsctors, employment recruiters, newspapers
(where it sdvemises for laborers) and various
immigrant nerworks that assist fellow immigrants in
obtalning etmployment, housing and illegal work
permits.” [FN2]

EN2, Other than the defendant. the complaine does
K specifically identify any of the alleged members of
the euterprise. The plaimtiff. in the complaint,
tequests dme v condust discovery conccghing the
ientitics of the members.

The complaint alleges thar the defendant's hiring
prictees constinute 2 violation of S¢ctlop 274 of the
Imenigration and Natiopality Act ("INA"), codified as
B US.C. § 1324(a)(3)(A) [EN3] which provides:
"Any person who, during smy twelve month period,
knowingly bires for employment at least 10
individuals with scoual knowledge that the individuals
are aliens .... shall be fined under Title 1B, ar
imprisoned for not more than 5 years or both.” The
complaint accurately =lleges that 8 U.S.C, § 1324(a)
is a predicate gct within the meaning of RICO, 18
U.S.C. § 1981(1)(F). The complaint purpons 1 allcge
a panern of racketeering activity by stating that the
defendant has paricipated in the affairs of the
enterprise through over 100 acts of violadon of 8
U.8.C. § 1324(s) in every 12 month period since that
provision became 3 RICO predicate offense. [FN4]

FN3. In the complaine the plaintiff has cited 1o 2
violatien of 8 U.S.C. § 1324(a)(1)®)(3)(A). bur no
such siardtory provision exists, The language quoted
in the complaint and sex forth ebove iz comiained in &
U.S.C. § 1324(2)3XA). Accordingly, it is assurped
that js the section which the plaindff has alleged as
the RICO predicats offense.

FN¢. On April 24, 1996, a8 part of the Actiterrorism
and Effective Death Pemalty Act of 1996, Pub L.
104-132 & 433 amcpded RICO to make 8 U.5.C,
Secton 1324 and related violatens RICO predicars

Copr, © West 2000 No Claim w Orig. U.S. Govt. Works
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affenses,

The defendant has moved to dismiss the copplain: for

a variety of reasons. The Count concludes that
dismissal of the cormplaint ¢ werranted because (1)
the platnriff does nor have suanding o bring this actioo
gnd, as 2 separzie basis for dismisssl, (2) the plaintiff
hds failed to comply with this Court's Standing Order
in Civil RICO c¢ases. For these feaions, the
defendant's motion {5 GRANTED.

Diszussion
1. Rule 12(b)(6) Standard

¥2 In 'deciding 8 motion to distiss purguant to
Fed.R.Civ.P.- 12(b)(6}, 2 court must constue in faver
of the pleader any well-pleaded zllegations in the
complaint. Finnegan v, Campesu Corp., 915 F.2d
824, 826 (248 Cir.1980); see also In Re Hunier
Eavironmemal Services, Inc., 921 F.Supp. 914, 917
(D.Conn.1996). The issug on 3 moton 1o dismiss is
vt whether the nonmoving party will prevail, buc
whether he is entided o offer evidence w0 support his
glaims. United States v. Yale New Haven Hasp., 727
F.Supp. 784, 786 (D.Conn,1550) (citing Scheuer v.
Rhodes, 416 U.S, 232, 236, %4 S.Cr 1683, 40
L.Ed.2d 50 {1974)). However, "[A] rootion to dismiss
tdst be granted if the pleadings fail o adequately
allege - the elements of the claim on which the
plaintiff's theory of liability rest.” Stern v. General
Blocuric oo., 924 F.2d 472, 476 (24 Cir.1991). A
cowt may dismiss the complaint only where “it
appenrs beyond doubt that the pleader can prove no
set of facts in support of the claim which would emitle
him to relief.” Yale New Haven Hosp., 727 P.Supp.
at 786 (quoting Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41,
4546, 78 5.Ct. 99, 2 L.Ed.2d 80 (1957). "In
determining the adequacy of a claim under Rule
12(b)X6), consideration is limited o facty stated on the
face of the complaint, in documents appended to the
complaint or incorporated in the complaint by
reference, and to matters of which judiclal notice may
be teken.” Allen v. Wesmoinc-Pepperell, Inc., 545
F.2d 40, 44 (24 Cir.1991).

I1. Section 1962 Generally

The RICO statnie recognizes a private civil csuse of
action for those individuals or entties whase property
or business interests: have been injured by the
activities of.a rackeleering emterprise. 18 U.S.C. §
1964(c). See also Medgar Evers House Tepanis
Asgociation v. Medgar Bvers Houses Associates.
L.P., 25 F,Supp.2d 116, 120 (B.D.N.Y.1998) (citing
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18 U.5.C. § 1962(2)«(d)), aff'd sub nom, Abboa v.
Medgar Bvers Houses Associates, L.P., 201 F.3d 430
(2d Cir.1999), petition for cers. filed, (U.S. Feb, 14.
2000) (No. 99-1367). A RICO claim requires that the
defendant used funds derived from 2 pattern of
racketeering sctvity w Invest in an enterprise,
acquired conwrol of an enterprise through & pattern of
racketeering activity, or conducted the affairs of an
enterprise through a pattern of racketsering sctivity,
or conspired to do any of those activities. See 18 U.S
.C. § 1962(e)-(d). Sec also Medgar Evers Houses

. Tenants Association, 25 F.Supp.2d at 120.

A pattern of racketeering activity requires, inter alia,

at least two predicate acts of racketeering activicy. See
18 U.S .C. § 1961(35). See also Medgar Evars Houses
Tenants Associadon, 25 F.Supp.2d =zt 120, Certain
criming] acts and violations of federal law ere defined
as "racketeering activity” in 18 U.S.C, § 1961(1). As
roentioned above, Section 1961(1)(F) provides that a
violation of Section 274 of the INA (relating w©
bringing in or harboring certain aliens, as codified at
8 U.S.C. § 1324) constitutes a predicate offense under
RICO.

*3 The plaintiff alleges the predicats offenses in this
action as muldiple violations of &8 U.S.C. § 1324(a)(3).
In order 10 allege s violadon of & U.S.C. §
1324(2)(3), the plaintiff must allege tat te
dafendant: (1) kmowinply hired at least 10 individuals
during any twelve month period of time whom it knew
(2) were ugantherized aliens and (3) had been brought
into, rmamsported within, concealed within, or
encouraged to enter this country, as described in §
1324(a) See 8 U.S.C. § 1324(2)(2). [FNS5]

FN5. Scction 1324(2) makes it unlawfil 1o (1) bring
or autempt to bring an alien imo the United States at
any place other than 3 designated pernt of entry: or (2)
transport, move, or attempt to transport or move such
alien within the United Stales knowing or in reckless
disregard of the fact that an alien has come o,
emered, or remains in te United Suares illegally; or
(3) conccal, harbor, or shicld from delsction, or
amempt to conceal, harbor, or shield from detextion,
a0 alien in any place, knowing or fecidessly
disregarding the fact thar the alien bag come m,
entered, or remains in the United States illcgally; or
(4) enceurage ar induce an alien to come 1o, enter, or
teside in the United States, knowing or in recklessly
disregarding the fact that such action by the alien is
unlawful: or (§) conspire in or ald and abet the
compisgion of any of these octs. See 8 US.C. §

1324(a){1).
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UI. RICO Standing
A. Geperally

A threshold considerarion is whether the plainriff has
standing 1o’ bring the RICO cause of action. In arder
w have standing, the plaintiff must gadsfy thres

. pleading requirements: (1) a violation of secdan 1962;
(2) injury to business or property; and (3) causation of
the injury by the viclation. First Nationwide Bank v.
Gelt Funding Carp., 27 F.3d 763, 767 (2d Cir.1994)
(ciiing Hechr v. Commerce Clearing House, Inc.. 897
B.2d 21, 23 (2d Cir.1950)). With fespect 1o the
causation requirement, @ RICO plaintiff lacks staoding
absext a direct relationship between the injury alleged
and the predicate RICQ offense. See Firs Nationwide

- Bank, 27 F.3d at 769. Put differently, the defendant’s
alieged RICO violaton must be the "but-for® or
causc-~in-fact of plaintiff's injury, as well as the legsl
or proximsdie cange. Holmes v. Securites Investor
Protection Corp., 503 U,S. 258, 268, 112 S.Cy, 1311,

117 L.Bd.2d 532 (1992); Laborers Local 17 Health
and Welfare Benefir Pund v, Puillip Morris, Inc., 191
F.3d 229, 234 (24 Cir,199%); Stendardbred Owmers
Ass'n v. Roosevelr Raceway Assocs., 985 F.2d 102,
104 (2d Cir.1993)); Hecht, 857 F.2d at 23. [FN§]
Failura to adequately allage that the defendaar's RICO
predicate acts proximately caused plaintlff's igjury is a
defect of pleading and s ground for dismissal at the
pleading stage. See First Natonwide, 27 F.3d at 769.

FN6, The distriet coun in Madgar Evers Houses
Associstes examined e impact of the Supreme
Court's deeision in Holmes on RICO rausation case
law in the Secand Cirenlt, Seg 1d,, 25 F .Supp.2d a1
122-124.

B. The Holmes Direct Relation Requlrement for
RICO Standing

At indicated, one of the requirements under the U.S,
Supreme Court's decision in Holmes is thar the RICO
predicate acts be the proximate cause of the imjury
cornplained of by the plaimiff. Holmes described this
proximadte cause requirement as requiring = “direct
relaton between the injury asserted and the Injurious
conduct alleged.” In fz Americen Bxpress Co.
Shereholder Litg., 39 F.3d 395, 399 (24 Cir.1954)
{citing Holmes, S03 1.S. at 258), This “direct
relation" requiremenr precludes recovery by a party
who simply compiains of injury “which flows from
the misfortunes visited upon a third person by the
defendant’s acts™. Id. The Holmees Court “concluded
that in the civil RICO comext, Justice demands that a
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plainniff demonstrate 2 direct relationship berween the
igjury asserted and the RICO violation." Medgar
Evers House Tenanrs Asseclation v. Medgar Evers
Houses Associates, L.P., 25 F Supp.2d 116, 121
(E.D.N.Y.1998),

*4 The Supreme Court in Holmes gave theee reasons
for the direct relation requirement. “First, the less
direct an injury is, the more difficult it becomes o
ascertzin the amount of a plaintiff's dJanages
anxibutable to the violation, as distinct from other,
independent, factors.” Holmes, 503 [J.5. ar 269
(citadon omitted); see also Madgar Evers Houses
Associgtes, 25 F.Supp.2d ar 121. Second, extending
the private RICO claim 1o indirectly injured parties
wollld rexult in courts having 1o formulate complicated
rules appartioning damages among the different levels
of injured parties in order to avoid the risk of multiple
recoveries. See Holmes, S03 U.S. ar 269 (citations
omiced); see also Medgar Evers Houses Associates,
25 F.Supp.2d at 121. Finally, there js no peed @
address these complex issues, because the directly-
injured pasty can bring the action and that geperally
serves the deterrent purpose of the private civi] action,
See Holmes, S03 U.S. at 269- 70 (citadon omitred);
see also Medgar Evers Houses Associates, 25
F.Supp.2d at 121. '

A number of district courts have applied the “direct
relation” test in dismissing RICO canzes of action
where the plaintiff bases the claim on an illegal course .
of conduct by a defendamt designed to avoid
compliance with federal law, which results in an
injury to the plaintiff. For example, in Medgar Evers
Haouses Associates, supra, the tenants of 2 New York
City housing project brought @ RICO claim against the
owners of the project and the U.S. Deparunent of
Bousing and Urban Development ("HUD™). [FN7]
The tenants clalmed char the owners had made 1 serics
of false and misleading statements to HUD concerning
the upkeep aod conditicn of the housiag project. The
tepants clajmed that HUD was misled about the
condition of the housing praject. As a result, the
owners continyed to receive remt subsidy pzyments
and were not compelled by HUD o improve the
project. The district court, however, concluded that
the plaindffs did nor have standing to bring 2 RICO
cause of action against the owners of the housing
project based on the false stataments to HUD and
dismnissed the complaint. The diswict conrx found the
following important; (1) none of the statements were
made ro the plaintiffs, But to HUD: (2) the fact finder
would Be required to determine whether the
complained-of conditions were the result of the false
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statements or were the resalt of other factors (such as
the defendant's poor management of the housing
project); and, (3) the court need not resolve thase
questions because HUD could deter the fraudulent
activities. 14, 121-122,

FN7. HUD wss only named a5 3 nominal defendamt
fram which oo relief was sought, See Medgar Evets
Houses Associzies, 25 F.Supp.2d at 115.

Simflarly, in Bstr Labarstories, Imc. v. Quanturn
Pharmics, Inc., 827 F.Supp. 111" (S.D.N.Y.1993),
the plaindff drug manufacturer brought an astion
zgainst one of its competitors when it learned it had
filed false applications with the Food #nd Drug
Adminietration ("FDA"). The plaintift alleged that the
defendant filed these applicstioms w obtain FDA
approval o market ceriain drigs. The plaintiff
claimed that the defendant violated RICO by
committing predicate acts of msail and wire fraud
when it submired the false applications 1o the FDA.
The plaintiff sought damages to compensate it for the
sales losr by virme of the defendsnt marketing the
fraudulenty-approved drups. The district count
disiissed ther RICO claim. reasoning that the
plaindff's losses were o remote because they did not
stem directly fromu the false applications filed with the
FDA. Barr Laborarories, Inc., 827 F.Supp. at 116,
The district court concluded (hat the josses depended
vpan the interveping actions by the FDA and the
competitor's customers; the FDA had the discretion o
issue the drug approval apd the comperitor's
cusiomers couwld choose whether they wished to
purchade the drugs or those of another competitor. 1d.
Thus, the plaintiff's claim of injury was “indirect.”
Id.

*5 Fioally, in Kingston Square Tenants Associatioh
v, Tuskegee Gardens, Lid., 792 F.Supp. 1566
(S5.D.Fla.1992), the plaimiff tepant association
brought @ RICO cause of acton against the owners
and masagars of its housing complex. Like in Medgar
Bvers Houses Associates, the association alleged that
the defendants had violated RICO by submitting
multiple false applications for HUD funds in which
they statcd that the units in the complex were in a
good condivon. The HUD funds were then usced for
purposes other than the repair and maintenance of the
compiex and. a5 a result, the complex fali into 4 stave
of disrepaly. The district court reasoned thar HUD,
pot the asspciation members, was the target of the
defendants' illegal conduct and the associztien
members ¢nly suffered indirectly from the conduct.
As such, the district court concluded HUD was the
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pruper party to seek relief, Sce Id., 792 F.Supp. at
1578.

C. The Instant Case

In e inseant case, the plaintiff has ror alleged facts
sufficient to emablish its standing to bring an acton
based on the claimed RICO viclations. The injury it
allegese-Jost revenue--doex not bear a direct relation w
the predicate acts by the defendants. As in Holmes,
Medgar Evers Houses Assaciates, Barr Laboratories,
Inc., and Kingston Square Tenants Associaton, the
compisint in the instaat case fails w sufficiently allege
the required causation.

The complaint ealleges that the defendant has
commitied predicate offenges of muitiple violations of
8 US.C. § 1324(a) through the operation of the
illegal immigrant hiring scheme. The complsint
alleges the following causaton chain: defendant hires
lllegal immigrants at a reduced rate of pay; which also
epables ir 10 avoid paying federal and state mxes,
workers' corpensaton insurance, and other costs for
these employees: which enable it to make lower bids
than the plzintff and other competitors for office
cleaning contracts: which results in it obtaining 2
larger market share of the cleaning business and
ultirnately prevents the plaintiff from obtaining mere
business,

Assuming the allegations are true, the commission of
the predicate offenses by the defendant does not
directly injure the plaintiff. Rather, the predicare
offenses are aimed at avoiding compliance with the
immigration laws and detection of those activities by
the INS. Additlonally, the fact finder would be
required to determine whether the plaintiff obtained a
reduced matket share of the office cleaning coneracts
because of the ealleged Yillegal immigramt hiring
scheme™ or because of other factors, such as: (1) the
comparatve quality of tie services provided by rhe
plaintiff snd the defendant; (2) the compararive
business reputations of the plaintiff and the defendanr;
(3) the fluctuations in the demand for such services;
and, {(4) 3 myriad of other reasons for selecting one
cleaning company over another. It would aiso be
extremely difficult to determine whether the plaintiff
lost business oppoertunities or whether another office
cleaning business was harmed. In other words, even if
the defendant should not have recejved the contract, in
many insrances it would be speculadve to choose
which competitor the potential customer would have
selectad. Additjonally, assuming the fact finder could
make these difficult dererminations, the calculation of
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damapey directly atiributable to the illegal imypigrant
hiring scheme would be daunfing, if noi impossible.

*6 Finally, as recognlzed in Holmes, Medgar Evers
Houses Associates, Barr Laboratories, Inc., and
Kingston Square Tenamts Association, if the defendant
is violadng the INA, it is the INS which bears the
primary responsibility to deter those activities. This
conclusion is consistent with other deelsions which
hold that there i3 0o recognized private cause of action
-under the INA and the civil and criminal enforeement
of the provisions of the statute |5 appropriately left w0
the INS. Sec Nieto-Santos v, Fletcher Parms, 743
F.2d 638, 641 (9th Cir.1984) (no privawe right of
action under the INA); Lopez v. Arrowhead Ranches,
523 F.24 924, 926 (9th Cir.1975) 8 U.S.C. § 1324 Is
a pepal provision and creates no private right of
actlon); Flores v, George Braun Packing Co. Div, of
Lesnard & Harral Packing Co., 482 F.2d 279, 280
(5th Cir.1973)(per curiam) Cholding thar varlous
provisions of the INA, including 8 U.S.C. § 1324, did
not create a private right of acrion egainst employers
who hired {llegal aliens); Chavez v. Preshpict Foods,
Inc., 456 F.2d 8350, 893-894 (10th Cir,1972), cer.
depled, 409 U.S. 1112 (1973) (same); Mate v,
Richard' Dattmer Archifects, 972 F.Supp. 738, 742
(8.D.N.Y.1997) {(citizen "has no standing w assert a
claim wider the INA bezauso the stamte does not
create 8 private right of action to redress a violation
that resulis when an employer submits false
information or illegally hires an alien when domestic
workers are available”): Collyard v. Washington
Capitals, 477 F.Supp. 1247, 1254 (D.Minn.1979)
(INA does mot create 2 private right of action);
Dowling v. United Sues, 476 F.Supp. 1018,
1020-1021 {D.M3s5.1979) (sarme); see also 8 U.§,C.
§ 1329 ("The district courts of the Unired Stares shall
bhave jurisdiction of all causes, ejvil and eriminal,
brought by the United States that arise under the
provisions of this sulxchapter.”) [FN8] The INA does
not explicitly provide for = privare right of action ner
docs it {mpliedly create a private right of action. See
United States v. Richard Dauwer Architects, 972
F.Supp. 738, 742-743 (S.D.N.Y.1997).

FNE&. The term “this subchapter™ is 3 reference
subchapter 11 of Tide & whick includes secrons 1151
through 1378,

For these reasoms, the Court concludes that the
plaintiff lacks standing to lbring this action
Accordipgly, the motion to dismiss is grented on that
basis.
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IV. Non-Compliance with the Standing Order in Civil
RICO Cases

The Standing Order in Civil RICO cases for the
United States District Courr for the District of
Connegticur ("the Standing Order®) provides “In all
¢ivil actions where the complainr contsins 2 calse of
action pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sections 1961-1968 the
plaintiff shall file & RICO Case Statement (“the
starement”) within cwenty (20) daye of filing the
camplaint.” The Standing Order rsquires that the
plainiff provide the Conurt and the defendant with 2
statement setring forth particular information about the
pamre and elemens af jts claimed RICQ violation, A
RICO cgse sutement i3 designed to be read together
With the complaint and to eupplement the allegations
conained in the complaine. See e.g. McLaughiin v.
Anderson, 962 F.24 187, 189 (2d Cir.1992). In the
instant case, the RICO case statement filed by the
plaintiff merely recounts the general allegations
contained in the cormplaint.

*7 The statement in the instant case {s insufficiently
detailed in several important areas. A few examples:
the plaindff fails to identty of the allegad
wrongdoers, other then the defendant; ir fails to 'set
forth the alleged misconduct of each alleged
wrongdoer; it fails to set forth the identiry of the
alleged victims aud the manner in which each victim
wias allegedly injured (instead, the plaintiff generally
responds 10 this provision by stating: "As stated in
paragraphs 6, 11 apd 12 of the complaint, the victims
are Colin's competitors throughont the ngtion"); i
fails 10 explain how each individual vietimn was injured
(instcad, it mercly refers back to the general
allegarions of the complaint); and, it falls to set forth
the mnameg of the individuals, parmnerships,
corporatons, asscciations, and other legal entites
which allegedly conmitute the RICO enterprize (the
plaintiff provides the following respomse to that
provision of the Standing Order: "The association-in-
face enterprise, as alleged in paragraph 30 of the
complalnt, is a group af jabor contractors, placement
Services, employment recruiters and mmigrant
networks that actively assist Colin in jocatng and

employing illegal immigrants.™).

Although the Courr is reluctant te dismiss a RICO
cate because of a plaintiff's mere failure to comply
with 2]l aspects of the Standing Order, in the insuant
case the Court coneludes that the plaintiff's degree of
failure © comply with the Standing Order warrants
dismissal. The purpose of the Standing Order—to give
to the defendant the basic factual information which
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underlies the RICO claim--is so grievously violated
bere to warranr dismissal of the complaint on that
basis s well,

Conclusion

The defendant's Motion to Dismiss [Document # 11]
is GRANTED. The Court recogunizes that when a

motion 10 dismiss is gragred, it may grant leave to |

amend the complaint. See Hayden v. County of
Nassay, 180 F.3d 42, 53 (2d Clir.1995) (citng
Ronzani v. Sanofi S.A.. 859 F.2d 195, 198 (d
Cir.1990)). However, "where it appears that granting
leave w0 amend is unlikely to be productive, it is not
an sbuse of discretion to deny leave w amend.”
Yerdon v. Heary, 51 F.3d 370, 378 (2d Cir.1956)
(citing Poman v, Davig, 371 U.S. 178, 182, 83 S.Cr,
227, 9 L.Ed.2d 222 (1962); see also Hayden, 180
F.3d at 53-54 (citing Pani v. Empire Blue Cross Blue
Shield, 152 F.3d 67, 76 (2d Cir.1598), cert. denied,
525 U.S. 1103, 119 S.Ct, 868, 142 L.Ed.2d 770
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(1999), In 2 RICO cuse, upon graning a motion I
distmiss leave © amend may be denfed where it
sppears thst the plainmiff lacks standing to bring the
action, See Manscn v., Sweescun, 11 F.3d 1127, 1133
{2d Cir.1953), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 915. 115 S.Ct.
292, 130 L.Ed.2d 206 (1954).

Tu the instant case, ope of the bases for granting the

defendant's motion to dismiss is the Court's
conclusion that the plaintiff does not have standing to
bring this action. A review of the plalntiff's
complaint, RICO case statement and the papers filed
in opposition to the motion fails to reveal any facrual
matters which, if plead in an amended complaine,
would cure thar deficiency.

*8 Accardingly, the complaint is dismissed and the
Clerk is ordered to close this case.

END OF DOCUMENT
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